1997

# John C. Sittner v. Karen H. Schriever, Trustee of The Karen H. schriever Family Trust; Bruce Gildea; Shirlynn Gildea; and Joy Hale : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **I. JURISDICTION OF UTAH COURT OF APPEALS**

The Utah Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction conferred by *Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j)* as a case transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Utah Supreme Court.

## **II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Plaintiff/Appellant Sittner's appeal of the Third District Court's summary judgment presents the following issues for review:

1. Does a Utah judgment lien attached to a debtor's real property before he files bankruptcy and receives a discharge remain enforceable against the property following case closing and abandonment of the property back to the debtor?
2. Did Sittner's filing of a bankruptcy claim marked "*unsecured*," his signing of a stipulation with the bankruptcy trustee waiving any right to assert a secured claim in property or funds of the estate, but preserving his rights respecting property abandoned by the estate or not administered by closing, and his receiving a distribution from the estate to unsecured claims have the effect of waiving Sittner's judgment lien on property abandoned to debtor Gildea upon case closing?
3. Did the eight year statute of limitations for enforcing Sittner's Utah judgment expire during the pendency of this action?
4. Did the trial judge err in awarding Defendants attorney's fees under *Utah Code Ann. §78-27-56* for Sittner filing an action for declaratory relief?

5. Did the trial judge abuse his discretion in not granting Sittner's motion to strike portions of Defendants' memoranda that contained opinions of other judges, offered to support Defendants' third motion for summary judgment and in considering such opinions in reversing himself for the third time and granting summary judgment?

### **III. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Sittner's appeal is from the trial court's grant of summary judgment of dismissal and awarding attorney's fees and accordingly the applicable standard of review for issues one through five is that summary judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c)*; ***Higgins v. Salt Lake County***, 855 P.2d 231, 235 (Utah 1993). Because entitlement to summary judgment is a question of law, no deference is accorded the trial court's resolution of legal issues presented. This court determines only if the trial court erred in applying the governing law and whether the trial court correctly held that there were no disputed issues of material fact. *Id.* In reviewing summary judgment, this court views the facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the losing party [Sittner]. *Id.* at 233. Also applicable to Sittner's appeal of the summary judgment, the trial court should not make findings of fact in a summary judgment other than a restatement of the undisputed facts stated in favor of the non-moving party. ***Dubois v. Grand Central***, 872 P.2d 1073, 1076 (Utah App. 1994).

The standard of review for issue number six on the trial court's failure to grant Sittner's motion to strike and preclude consideration of the opinion of the bankruptcy court after the bankruptcy order was reversed and vacated by the U.S. District Court is equivalent to a

determination of the admissibility of evidence for purposes of a motion for summary judgment and is reviewed by an abuse of discretion standard. *Harline v Barker*, 912 P.2d 433, 441 (Utah 1996).

#### **IV. DETERMINATIVE STATUTES**

*Utah Code Ann. §78-22-1* (1992) provides in pertinent part:

(1) Judgments shall continue for eight years unless previously satisfied or unless enforcement of the judgment is stayed in accordance with law.

#### **V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### ***A. Nature of the Case.***

In November 1985, Sittner obtained a money judgment against Defendant Bruce Gildea. In December of 1985, Sittner had execution proceedings issue on the judgment and the county sheriff recorded a notice of real estate levy and set an execution sale on the judgment lien on Gildea's real property, which sale was suspended when Gildea filed bankruptcy in January 1986. In bankruptcy, Gildea received a Chapter 7 discharge of personal liability, elected and received his Utah homestead exemption on property other than the Sittner judgment lien property. The lien property was scheduled in the bankruptcy, but was neither sold nor administered for the benefit of the bankruptcy estate and Gildea continued to be in possession and an owner after the bankruptcy case closing in April 1992.

On August 3, 1993, Sittner filed this action in the district court under the *Declaratory Judgments Act, Utah Code Ann. §78-33-1*, et. seq., for declaratory relief that his judgment lien was still attached to the real property, survived Gildea's bankruptcy, had an unsatisfied judgment balance in excess of \$30,000, that Gildea could not claim another homestead and



Sittner was entitled to direct the sheriff to complete the execution sale suspended by Gildea's prior bankruptcy, and for a determination of Defendants' rights, interests and priorities in the property. [*Complaint*, *Rec.* 1-17; copy *Appdx. 1*].

Gildeas' answer admitted Gildea's homestead exemption had been used on other property, that Gildea was still an owner in continuous possession, and that the property had been abandoned to him from the bankruptcy estate, but asserted that Sittner's lien claim was barred by Gildea's Chapter 7 bankruptcy and by the statute of limitations. [Gildeas' *Answer*, *Rec.* 30-33 ]. The other Defendants answered, admitted having an interest in the property, but asserted that Sittner's lien was discharged by Gildea's bankruptcy and barred by the statute of limitations. [See answers, *Rec.* 34-43].

***B. Trial Court Proceedings and Disposition.***

After some written discovery, cross-motions for summary judgment were filed and on May 18, 1994, Judge Wilkinson granted summary judgment for Defendants dismissing the action [*Rec.* 331] concluding that judgments do not survive a bankruptcy discharge [*Tr.* p.3, *Rec.* 273], and awarding Defendants attorneys' fees under *Utah Code Ann.* §78-27-56 saying that Sittner's "*suit is not well taken, is a frivolous suit, . . .*" with no mention of or finding of bad faith. [*Tr.* p. 3, 4, *Rec.* 273-274].

Subsequently on Plaintiff Sittner's motion, the court reconsidered its ruling and on September 7, 1994, the court entered an order vacating the prior summary judgment and granting partial summary judgment for Sittner that his judgment and lien survived the bankruptcy and remained enforceable *in rem* against the subject property, concluding that

a discharge does not render a judgment lien invalid but only precludes liability of the debtor personally, nor was the judgment avoided in the course of Gildea's bankruptcy or by the prior stipulation made between Sittner and Gildea's bankruptcy trustee which expressly preserved the judgment lien on the specific real property which was the subject of the action. The court reserved ruling on the statute of limitations and on the amount remaining due on the judgment. [See *Order*, *Rec.* 458-464; copy *Appdx.* 2].

On March 10, 1995, Sittner moved for partial summary judgment on the reserved issues of the statute of limitations and the balance due on the judgment, and requested the court to authorize the sheriff to complete the execution sale long suspended by Gildea's bankruptcy. [*Rec.* 469-488]. Schriever in response reasserted her entire first motion for summary judgment [*Rec.* 510-525], but after the motions were submitted for decision [*Rec.* 550], Gildea moved for a stay of proceedings so he could move to reopen his bankruptcy case and seek relief in the bankruptcy court and by *Minute Entry* of April 21, 1995, Judge Wilkinson granted the stay. [*Rec.* 567].

Gildea was successful in obtaining a bankruptcy order adverse to Plaintiff Sittner and based thereon on August 15, 1995 (the trial court) granted Defendants' summary judgment of dismissal and awarded them attorneys' fees. [*Rec.* 735]. However on October 10, 1995, Sittner obtained an order staying further proceedings pending review of the bankruptcy order by the U.S. District Court and providing that if the bankruptcy order was reversed that the trial court's judgment, findings and conclusions of August 15, 1995, that were based on issue

preclusion, would be automatically vacated and further proceedings could then ensue in the case. [Rec. 939-941 and Rec. 1000-1002; copy *Appdx. 3*].

On July 16, 1996, the U.S. District Court reversed and vacated the bankruptcy order. [Rec. 1042-1045]. Unfortunately the court's opinion included unnecessary commentary endorsing the bankruptcy's judge's conclusions.

On August 8, 1996, Sittner served requests for supplementation of prior discovery responses and after receiving no responses and sending inquiry letters to opposing counsel with no response; on October 24, 1996, Sittner moved to compel discovery and for an award of attorney's fees. [Rec. 945-970]. All such discovery motions were submitted for decision of the court by notice on November 14, 1996 [Rec. 1003] and December 10, 1996 [Rec. 1053].

On January 14, 1997, Schriever filed her third motion for summary judgment offering no new facts or analysis other than including the bankruptcy judge's opinion and federal district judge's endorsement of it, and based thereon asserted Defendants' right to have the prior summary judgment reinstated. [Rec. 1061-1126]. Gildea joined in the motion [Rec. 1141]. Sittner responded by objecting to and moving to strike the unfounded facts and improper conclusions under *Rule 56(e)* and the improper bankruptcy opinions and again moved for summary judgment on the reserved issues. [Rec. 1154-1237].

On March 25, 1997, the court granted summary judgment for Defendants dismissing Sittner's complaint with prejudice and awarding attorneys' fees under *Utah Code Ann. §78-26-56* in an amount to be determined. [*Judgment, Rec. 1257-1258, Findings and*

*Conclusions*, Rec. 1250-1255; copies *Appdx. 4*]. The court's third reversal of decision was brought about by the nullified bankruptcy opinion improperly included by Defendants in their brief, which was the only new ground asserted, which they argued strenuously [*Tr.* 1644, p.6,7], which Judge Wilkinson admitted considering in reaching his decision that Sittner's judgment was waived in Gildea's bankruptcy. [See *Tr.* p. 4, *Rec.* 1245-1249, copy *Appdx. 5*]. On October 21, 1997, judgment was entered awarding Defendants' attorneys' fees of \$37,250 [*Rec.* 1541-1543]. On November 14, 1997, Sittner filed a *Notice of Appeal* from the entire judgment and proceedings, including the March 25, 1997, summary judgment. [*Rec.* 1549].

***C. Appellate Proceedings and Disposition.***

In December of 1997, Schriever moved for summary dismissal of Sittner's appeal as untimely filed. In January of 1998, the Utah Supreme Court poured-over the appeal and pending motion to the court of appeals. On July 9, 1998, the court of appeals filed a memorandum decision [*Rec.* 1573] dismissing Sittner's appeal as untimely. Sittner filed a petition for rehearing and after the court called for and reviewed responses, rehearing was denied by order of September 30, 1998.

Sittner petitioned for certiorari which was granted by the Supreme Court and on May 19, 2000, the Supreme Court reversed the decision of the court of appeals and remanded this case back for a full review of the merits of Sittner's appeal. *Sittner v. Schriever, et. al.*, 2000 UT 45 [copy *Appdx. 6*].

**D. *Statement of Facts.***

Sittner responded to the statement of facts set forth in Schriever's third motion for summary judgment by objecting to certain unfounded facts and improper conclusions and moving to strike the same under *Rule 56(e)* [Rec. 1154-1164]. Some of these unfounded facts and improper conclusions are in the findings of fact adopted by the court [Rec. 1250-1255]. However because resolution was by summary judgment, Sittner ignores the findings and particularly the improper portions and asserts that the undisputed facts properly in the record for summary judgment are as follows:

1. On November 25, 1985, Sittner was granted judgment for recovery of approximately \$34,000 against Bruce Gildea, which was filed and docketed in the Third District Court, Salt Lake County, Utah. [*Exhibit "B" to Sittner's Complaint, Rec. 10; admitted in Gildea's Answer, ¶6, Rec. 31*].

2. Under Utah law, docketing the judgment created a lien upon Gildeas' real property in Salt Lake County, including a lien upon Gildeas' one-half ownership interest in property at 2400 East 3000 South (the "*subject property*") Gildea and his wife were purchasing from Defendant Hale under a uniform real estate contract. [Admitted Gildeas' *Answer* ¶5, Rec. 31; Rec. 1070, ¶1].

3. Sittner caused execution proceedings to issue on the judgment and on December 30, 1985, the county sheriff filed for record with the Salt Lake County Recorder a *Writ of Execution* and *Notice of Real Estate Levy* against Gildea's interest in the subject property and the sheriff served the *Writ* on Gildeas and posted and published notice of

execution sale. [*Exhibit “C”* to Plaintiff’s *Complaint*, *Rec.* 12-15; *Mabey Aff.* ¶3, *Rec.* 135-138].

4. On January 16, 1986, just before Sittner’s execution sale of the subject property, Bruce Gildea filed for bankruptcy protection in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court, District of Utah. [*Gillman Aff.* ¶2, *Rec.* 93].

5. As a result of Gildea’s bankruptcy filing, Sittner’s attorney received notice of the “*automatic stay*” preventing the execution sale of the subject property and he notified the sheriff to suspend further proceedings until the automatic stay was no longer in effect. [*Mabey Aff.* ¶4, *Rec.* 135-138].

6. Early in the bankruptcy case, Sittner filed a standard form “*Proof of Claim*” which attached a copy of Sittner’s judgment against Gildea as evidencing the debt and indicated the judgment was security for the claim, but marked the claim box as “*unsecured*” based upon Sittner’s belief that the security interest then had no recoverable value to satisfy the judgment. [*Gillman Aff.* ¶3, *Rec.* 93-95; copy *Proof of Claim*, *Rec.* 95 and *Appdx.* 7].

7. On December 14, 1987, Gildea received a Chapter 7 discharge [*Rec.* 99], and during his bankruptcy case, Gildea elected to use and receive the full benefit of his Utah homestead exemption on property other than the subject property. [Admitted in Gildeas’ *Answer* ¶10, *Rec.* 31].

8. In June of 1989, Gildea’s bankruptcy trustee commenced an adversary proceeding against Sittner seeking to avoid Sittner’s judgment lien as a preferential transfer under *11 U.S.C. §547*. The action was settled by written stipulation signed by Sittner and

the trustee on August 10, 1989, whereby Sittner agreed to waive any right to assert a secured claim in property or proceeds of the bankruptcy estate, and agreed he would have an unsecured prepetition claim for claims administration, but Sittner's rights under the judgment respecting property abandoned by the estate or not administered by closing would be preserved and unaffected. The stipulation was subject to court approval and was approved by a bankruptcy order. [*Gillman Aff.* ¶4, *Rec.* 94, copy *Stipulation*, *Rec.* 98-99 and copy in *Appdx.* 8; *Mabey Aff.* ¶'s 5, 6, 7, *Rec.* 135-138].

9. In December of 1991, Sittner received a check from the bankruptcy trustee for \$4,033 representing a distribution on Sittner's unsecured claim of \$36,228 [*Rec.* 1072 at ¶9; *Rec.* 1121]. After Sittner applied the distribution to the judgment debt, there still remained a balance owed in excess of \$30,000. [*Sittner Aff.* ¶5, *Rec.* 130-131].

10. The subject property and Gildea's interest in it was a scheduled asset of Gildea's bankruptcy estate [*Rec.* 1071 at ¶4] and throughout the case Gildea remained in possession and after closing Gildea continued to be an owner of the one-half interest in the subject property. [Admitted in Gildea's *Answer* ¶12, *Rec.* 32; and *Rec.* 1074 at ¶16].

11. The subject property was not sold by the trustee or otherwise administered for the benefit of the estate, since the trustee had determined that there was not sufficient equity available to benefit the estate and he intended to abandon the property, but no formal order of abandonment was made or entered and so it was deemed abandoned to Gildea upon bankruptcy case closing on April 24, 1992. [*Sittner Aff.* ¶'s 6 and 7, *Rec.* 130-132; *Mabey*

*Aff.* ¶8, *Rec.* 137-138; Gildea admitted property abandoned to him in Gildeas' *Answer* ¶11, *Rec.* 32].

12. Several months after the closure of Gildea's bankruptcy case, Sittner decided to complete the long-suspended execution sale on the subject property and thus obtained a search of the public title records and discovered a warranty deed recorded August 1992 from Defendant Hale as grantor conveying the subject property to Defendant Schriever, Shirlynn Gildea's sister, which made no reference to or exception from the warranties for Gildeas' ownership. Sittner investigated further and found that Gildeas were still in possession of the subject property. [See *Complaint* ¶13 and *Exhibit "A" (Warranty Deed)*, *Rec.* 4, 9; Schriever's *Answer* ¶'s 13, 19, *Rec.* 36].

13. Given the title uncertainty created by the Hale to Schriever warranty deed not conforming to the prior uniform real estate contract under which Gildeas were purchasing at the time Sittner's lien attached, Sittner deemed it prudent to file the present action on August 3, 1993, for declaratory relief and for the court to direct completion of the execution sale proceedings, joining Gildeas, Hale and Schriever who appeared to have an interest in the property and seeking a determination of their rights, interests and priorities. Sittner also included a "*Count II*" claim for fraudulent transfer declaratory relief in case Defendants claimed that Gildea had lost his ownership in the property by contract foreclosure or forfeiture [*Complaint*, *Rec.* 1-17; copy *Appdx. I*].



## **VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

A. Under federal law, a debtor's bankruptcy discharge does not void a judgment lien attached to a debtor's real property but only extinguishes one mode of enforcing the judgment, namely personal liability of the debtor, leaving intact another mode the right to enforce the judgment *in rem* against the property. Thus generally liens that are not affirmatively avoided during a bankruptcy case pass through and are unaffected and remain enforceable. Continued enforcement of a judgment lien depends upon state law and under the *Utah Judgment Act* the judgment continues for eight years unless earlier satisfied by payment. A Utah judgment is not dependent upon the continuation of personal liability of the debtor for enforcement so the judgment is not voided or rendered unenforceable by a debtor's discharge, since the judgment lien stays with the property to which it is attached and may be enforced after transfer to a third party by execution to collect the judgment debt.

B.(1) Under the *Bankruptcy Code* a judgment lien is a property interest that does not become property of the estate and cannot be avoided except under a power conferred by the *Bankruptcy Code* and then only by affirmative relief in the case. Since no order voided Sittner's judgment lien, it was not extinguished in the bankruptcy.

(2) The *Bankruptcy Code* classifies claims as "*secured*" or "*unsecured*" based upon the value of the collateral securing the claim. So a creditor's claim can be unsecured though he has a security interest with little or no value and he can participate fully in distributions to unsecured claims and still retain his lien interest.

(3) When property of the bankruptcy estate is abandoned either by the trustee or by the *Bankruptcy Code* upon case closing, the property stands as if no bankruptcy petition had been filed and is encumbered by the liens attached prepetition which remain enforceable on the property.

(4) Under the *Bankruptcy Code* the trustee is empowered to avoid preferential transfers like judgment liens taken within ninety days of the petition, but only for property of benefit to the estate. The trustee filed an action to avoid Sittner's judgment lien, and by settlement stipulation the parties signed, Sittner agreed the lien was waived on property to be administered for the benefit of the estate while preserving the lien right on property later abandoned. The stipulation approved by court order had the effect of fully preserving Sittner's judgment lien on property abandoned by the estate back to the debtor.

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