1997

# John C. Sittner v. Karen H. Schriever, Bruce Gildea, Shirlynn Gildea, Joy Hale : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### Point I APPELLANT HAS NO ENFORCEABLE JUDGMENT LIEN.

##### A. Sittner's Judgment Lien And Claim Of A Secured Interest In Bruce Gildea's Bankruptcy Estate Was Waived During The Course Of Bruce Gildea's Bankruptcy.

From the facts of record Judge Wilkinson's Conclusion of Law that "Plaintiff Sittner knew, or should have known, that his judgment lien and claim of a secured interest in Bruce Gildea's estate was waived during the course of Bruce Gildea's bankruptcy" is inescapable. Sittner signed a stipulation with the bankruptcy court stating that he "waives any right to assert a secured claim in and to any property of this estate or any funds which constitute proceeds of property of this estate and acknowledges that any and

all claim he has is an unsecured, pre-petition claim." [Rec. 1119,1120]

Sittner, through his attorney L. Benson Mabey, filed a PROOF OF CLAIM with the United States Bankruptcy Court listing himself as an unsecured creditor of Bruce Gildea. [Rec. 1114]. Sittner received payment of \$4,032.99 as his share of distribution to unsecured creditors on his claim of \$36,228.73 against appellee Gildea. [Rec. 1121]

The issue of Sittner's waiver of his judgment lien was litigated in the Bankruptcy and U.S. District Court and the opinions of Bankruptcy Judge John Allen and U.S. District Court Judge Tena Campbell should preclude further litigation of the matter under the doctrine of "Collateral Estoppel/Issue Preclusion." When the facts of this case were submitted to the bankruptcy court, Judge John H. Allen reopened Bruce Gildea's bankruptcy case and granted Bruce Gildea's Motion for Sanctions against L. Benson Mabey and John C. Sittner for bringing this action. Judge Allen's bench ruling, [Addendum 3] states in part:

Thus, my conclusion is that the actions of Mr. Sittner in this case in filing the proof of claim as an unsecured claim, participating in all respects as an unsecured creditor and stipulating that he was an unsecured creditor with a pre-petition claim had the effect of waiving that judgment lien. [Transcript Rec. 1092]

And the action of bringing an action in the state court to set aside a conveyance to other parties and to foreclose the lien that had been waived is an action in violation of the discharge injunction. There was no lien. There was no basis whatsoever for filing the suit in the state court. [Rec. 1093].

I find therefore, that Mr. Sittner waived the lien. There was no lien after the discharge. The action of suing in the state court was a violation of the injunction. Sanctions are appropriate against Mr. Sittner and counsel Mr. Mabey, who participated in all respects in the bankruptcy proceeding and had all the knowledge, in fact more knowledge probably than Mr. Sittner. [Rec. 1093].

On July 16, 1996, U.S. District Judge Tena Campbell ruled the Third District Court is competent to make a ruling on the dischargeability issue and reversed Judge Allen's order reopening Mr. Gildea's bankruptcy. However, as part of her decision Judge Campbell ruled:

"The court finds that the bankruptcy court's evaluation of the status of Sittner's judgment lien is correct in all respects. It seems clear that the judgment lien was waived in the course of bankruptcy proceedings, and the debt secured by that lien was fully discharged in bankruptcy". [Order, Rec. 1106, Addendum 5].

Judge Campbell's decision was never modified and should be the final authority on the matter. Appellant's claim that "The Trial Judge Abused His Discretion In Not Granting Sittner's Motion to Strike Other Judges' Opinions And In Considering Such Opinions In Granting Defendants' Summary Judgment" is hollow indeed. Appellant, himself, used Judge Allen's opinion to obtain a stay of proceedings in this case to appeal Judge Allen's decision to the U.S. District Court.

The fact that Judge Campbell's opinion is unpublished does not preclude its use for precedential value in this case. Rule 4-508, Code of Judicial Administration specifically authorizes the use of unpublished orders "for purposes of applying the doctrine of the

law of the case, res judicata, or collateral estoppel."

B. A Discharge Of Debt In Bankruptcy Extinguishes The Judgment Lien.

When a judgment debt is satisfied the judgment lien is extinguished. Utah Code Ann. 78-22-1 provides that "Judgments shall continue for eight years unless the judgment is previously satisfied."

Bruce Gildea's bankruptcy fully discharged the judgment debt asserted by Appellant as the basis for this action, Appellant's bad faith contentions notwithstanding. By Affidavit [Rec. 130-134] Sittner asserts that the unpaid balance of the judgment lien after crediting all amounts received including the amount received from the bankruptcy estate of Bruce Gildea is \$90,197.40 together with interest accruing at the rate of 20% per annum.

Judgment liens don't have unpaid balances. A judgment lien is only a means for collecting a valid judgment debt.

"A judgment lien on land constitutes no property or property right in the land itself. It confers only a right to levy on the same to the exclusion of other adverse interests subsequent to the judgment". Smith v. Schwartz, 60 P.305, 309 (Utah 1899)

In Cox Corp. v. Vertin, 754 P.2d 938, 939 (Utah 1988), the High Court ruled that Utah's "statutory scheme has no provision for the extension of a judgment lien independent of the judgement on which it is based". The Court in concluding that a discharge of judgment in bankruptcy precludes enforcement of a judgment lien even if the judgment lien was not avoided in bankruptcy stated as

follows:

[1] Appellant contends that since the judgment lien was not avoided in bankruptcy proceeding, it is renewable and the judgment should be renewed in some limited form to support the lien without reviving respondents' personal liability. This theory finds no support in our statutory scheme. A judgment lien is purely a creation of statute. It does not exist in common law; therefore, the rights of the parties must be determined within the statutory framework.

Accordingly, Sittner's judgment lien was voided when appellee Bruce Gildea obtained a discharge of indebtedness from the United States Bankruptcy Court for the State of Utah on December 14, 1987.

C. Appellant Is Estopped To Assert A Judgment Lien.

Appellant Sittner, through his attorney L. Benson Mabey, filed a PROOF OF CLAIM with the United States Bankruptcy Court listing himself as an unsecured creditor of appellee Bruce Gildea. Sittner received payment of \$4,032.99 as his share of distribution to unsecured creditors on his claim of \$36,228.73 against appellee Gildea. In order to participate as an unsecured creditor Sittner entered into a Stipulation with Trustee Gillman as follows:

"1. ... John C. Sittner, waives any right to assert a secured claim in and to any property of this estate or any funds which constitute proceeds of property of this estate and acknowledges that any and all claim he has is an unsecured, pre-petition claim." [Rec.1119].

The Doctrine of Judicial Estoppel bars a litigant who has taken a position in prior litigation and has obtained relief on the basis of that position from maintaining the opposite position in a subsequent action. See Condas v. Condas, 618 P.2d 491, 496 (Utah

1980) and Roy S. Ludlow Investment Co. v. Salt Lake County, 551 P.2d 1259 (Utah 1976). A party is bound by his judicial declarations and may not contradict them in a subsequent proceeding involving the same parties and issues. See Sailes v. Jones, 499 P.2d 721 and Adams v. Bear, 350 P.2d 751.

Plaintiff Sittner is estopped by his prior actions. He can't have it both ways. He can't waive any right he may have to assert a secured claim in the bankruptcy court in order to receive payment as an unsecured creditor and thereafter assert that he is a secured creditor in the state courts and that his judgment lien was not avoided by the bankruptcy proceeding initiated for the very purpose of avoiding his lien.

D. The Statutory Period For Foreclosing Sittner's Judgment Lien Expired, Notwithstanding Any Tolling Period That Could Have Been Caused By Bruce Gildea's Bankruptcy.

Even if the claimed judgment lien had somehow survived lien waiver and satisfaction of judgment in the bankruptcy court, enforcement of the lien was barred by expiration of the limitation period for enforcing judgment liens. Utah Code Ann. 78-22-1(1) provides:

Judgments shall continue for eight years unless previously satisfied or unless enforcement of the judgment is stayed in accordance with law.

Sittner's judgement was docketed November 25, 1985 and would expire November 25, 1993 unless "enforcement of the judgment is stayed in accordance with law." Appellant argues that under the

Bankruptcy Code §108(c), the limitation period was suspended for more than six years by the automatic stay and such period is tacked on to the normal expiration date in November of 1993. Mabey asserts that Sittner's judgment was enforceable until the end of 1999 by operation of the federal law.

Mabey fails to inform the court that the automatic stay was not in effect until April 24, 1992 as he represents to this court. On February 19, 1988, Bankruptcy Judge John H. Allen issued an order vacating the Automatic Stay as to secured creditor Joy Horsley (Hale) and the subject property leaving Mrs. Hale free to foreclose her security interest without further order of the court. [Rec. 1113].

Factoring the truth into the equation, it can only be said that the automatic stay was in effect from January 16, 1986 when Gildea's bankruptcy was filed until February 19, 1988 when the stay was lifted, a period of two years and 33 days. If one adds two years and thirty three days to November 25, 1993 the expiration date for enforcing the lien would be extended to December 28, 1995.

This court should bear in mind that Appellant was under a self imposed stay of proceedings on December 28, 1995. On October 10, 1995 Sittner sought and obtained an order from Judge Wilkinson staying further proceedings in this case pending review of the bankruptcy order by the U.S. District Court. [Rec. 939-941].

On October 23, 1996, more than eight years and eight months after the Automatic Stay had been lifted by the bankruptcy court,

Sittner resumed efforts to foreclose his claimed judgment lien by filing a Motion For An Order Compelling Discovery. He asked the court to allow him to take the depositions of appellees Hale (then on an LDS Mission) and Schriever (a resident of Maryland) by telephone. [Rec. 946].

Thereafter, on January 14, 1997 appellee Schriever filed her Third Motion For Summary Judgment. [Rec. 1061]. On March 25, 1997, Judge Wilkinson granted Schriever's Third Motion For Summary Judgment dismissing appellant Sittner's complaint with prejudice and awarding all appellee/defendants costs and attorneys fees pursuant to Utah Code annotated 78-27-56. [Rec. 1257, Copy, Addendum 1].

Even if this Court accepts Appellant's argument that the eight year limitation for foreclosing a lien should be extended by the time the property was shielded by the automatic stay it is of no benefit to Appellant. The trial court's entry of Summary Judgment dismissing Appellant's action did not occur until fifteen months after the two year and 33 day extension would have expired.

In Smith v. Schwartz, 60 P.305, (Utah 1899) the Utah Supreme Court ruled that the lien of a judgment expires at the end of the statutory period established by the legislature and the courts are powerless to extend it beyond that time - even though the judgment creditor was wrongfully enjoined from levying execution upon the property until after his lien expired.

It matters not that Plaintiff Sittner's alleged lien expired



during the pendency of this action. In Federal Farm Mortgage Corp. v. Walker, 115 Utah 461, 206 P.2d 146 (Utah 1949) the trial court's entry of a judgment foreclosing a lien which had expired during the pendency of the foreclosure action was reversed citing Smith v. Schwartz.

Point II APPELLANT FAILED TO STATE A CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER THE UTAH UNIFORM FRAUDULENT TRANSFER ACT.

A. There Was No Transfer Of Gildea's Interest.

Upon purchase of the vendor's interest in the subject property appellee Schriever assumed Mrs. Hale's position as contract seller to the Gildeas. The transaction involved no conveyance or modification of Mr. Gildea's interest in the subject property. The Gildeas retain a vendees' interest under the installment purchase contract and continue to occupy the subject property as their family residence.

Appellant, asserts that appellee Joy Hale's sale of her vendor's interest in an installment land contract to appellee Schriever "constituted fraudulent transfers . . . under the Utah Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, Utah Code Ann. § 25-6-1 et seq." Plaintiff's complaint cites no specifics in support of this allegation other than to note that appellee Schriever is appellee Shirlynn Gildea's sister and to allege that appellee Bruce Gildea "directed" appellee Hale to transfer the property to appellee Schriever. Assuming all of Appellant's allegations to be true. Appellant's complaint fails to state a cause of action upon which

relief may be granted.

Appellant fails to note which section of the Utah Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act he relies upon. Utah Code Ann. 25-6-5 and 25-6-6 appear to be the operative provisions of the act but each require a "debtor" and a "creditor" and a "transfer" by a "debtor" with the "actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud a creditor of the debtor" or a transfer made "without receiving a reasonably equivalent value in exchange" when the "debtor was insolvent at the time" or rendered insolvent by the transfer.

Appellant Sittner is unable to allege any of the above. He has no standing to bring an action under any portion of this statute. He is not a creditor of any named defendant. His judgment and judgment lien were satisfied and extinguished in Bruce Gildea's bankruptcy. Alleged debtor, Bruce Gildea made no transfer of any of his assets and was not rendered insolvent by Schriever's purchase of Hale's vendor's interest in the subject installment land contract. Appellee Schriever is a bona fide purchaser who paid valuable consideration and acted in good faith, without notice or knowledge of adverse claims and with no intent to defraud.

Sittner asked the trial court to "impress" the subject realty with a judgment lien "as a valid and subsisting first lien against a one-half undivided interest in the subject property". Even if Sittner's judgment lien had somehow survived Bruce Gildea's bankruptcy it could not supersede appellee Hale's interest in the

property. A vendor's secured interest in an installment land contract protects the vendor's property from appropriation by creditors of the vendee. If such were not the case installment sales would not be a commercially viable alternative for selling land.

Joy Hale's title to the subject property was in no way impaired by Bruce Gildea's bankruptcy. She was a secured creditor. Her security was the title to the property.

The Gildea's owed Ms. Hale much more than the property was worth. The contract was seriously in default and amortizing negatively. The Trustee in Bankruptcy found it to be of no value to Mr. Gildea's bankruptcy estate. Bankruptcy Judge John H. Allen issued an order vacating the Automatic Stay as to appellee Joy Horsley (Hale) and the subject property leaving her free to dispose of her interest in the property as she pleased. [Rec. 1113].

Although free of the Automatic Stay in February of 1988, Sittner brought no adversary proceeding seeking to value the subject real estate contract or assert a judgement lien interest in the property while the Gildea bankruptcy was before the Bankruptcy Court.

B. An Action For Declaratory Relief Should Be Brought As A Separate Action.

Appellant contends that he should not be liable for attorneys fees for litigating an action which the trial court found to be without merit and brought in bad faith simply because he asserts the action is "commenced" under the Utah Declaratory Judgment Act,

Utah Code Ann. §78-33-1. This defense is indicative of the bad faith exhibited throughout this litigation.

The complaint alleges the conveyance from Hale to Schriever "constituted fraudulent transfers or arrangements under the "Utah Uniform Fraudulent Transfers Act, Utah Code Ann. § 26-6-1 et seq." and that the Warranty Deed from Hale to Schriever was issued "with actual intent to hinder, delay or defeat" the judgment lien claimed by appellant Sittner. Sittner asked the trial court to "impress" the subject realty with a judgment lien "as a valid and subsisting first lien against a one-half undivided interest in the subject property" and to have the subject property sold at execution sale to satisfy Sittner's Judgment." [Complaint, Rec. 6,7,8]

By affidavit, Sittner asserted the "judgment lien" had an "unpaid balance" of \$90,197.40 with interest accruing at the rate of 20% per annum. [Sittner Affidavit, Rec. 130-134]. Nowhere in the pleadings did Sittner acknowledge that his judgment had been fully discharged in Bruce Gildea's bankruptcy action.

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